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START OF INTERVIEW


Johnnie Peters: --H.T. Lockard?


Elizabeth Gritter: Yeah.


JP: He served as assistant to Governor Buford Ellington, and I worked real hard with him to help Buford Ellington get elected.  He has been my friend over the years.  Whenever I needed an attorney he was always there to go to court with me or help me out with anything.  When I got ready to get my divorce from my husband he was my attorney.  He worked in politics and NAACP and stuff.  Before Maxine [Smith] it was H.T. Lockard working at the NAACP right out of his office on Beale Street.  He had an office on Beale.  So we worked together for years.


EG: So were you involved with the NAACP working with him before Maxine Smith and Vasco Smith came back?


JP: Yes I was, just whatever he needed me to do, help write some memberships, or like most of the times I would be the person who helped cook food whenever they went to picket or do anything.  I was always in the background if I wasn’t going with them to picket.


EG: Wow, wow.  So you’ve had a really long history, that continues today, of involvement with the--.


JP: Yeah.  Well see I never stopped, because like in my community I always make sure my community’s organized, and work with the people and any kind of information they need, like CSA.  I’m the chairman of CSA.


EG: Community Service Agency?



JP: Uh huh.  I’m the chairman of that board, the advisory board for them.  And, you know, just about anything people need to know, whether there’s light bill money available, or any other needs, like somebody might lose their job and can’t pay their house note, see, CSA has a part, a structure that will help you if you meet the criteria.  


EG: Okay.


JP: So then if somebody calls and asks for information I seem to have the information they need because I’m on all these boards, so it helps the community.


EG: Sure, sure, wow, wow.  When you began your involvement with H.T. Lockard, with the NAACP, what were some of the issues that were going on at that time?


JP: Oh, everything was going on then.  We had to ride in the back of the bus.  If you wanted to go in some of these eating places you had to go in the back door.  You know, it just wasn’t open.  You had to use--.  Like my baby, he was five years old.  He didn’t want to drink “colored” water.  We went to Goldsmith’s Department Stores.  You couldn’t even try on hats at some department stores.  It was bad back in that time.  And you know it was just, people were getting killed and everything else back in that day, trying to get folks registered to vote and stuff.  You didn’t have--.  You was just getting an opportunity back in the ’60s to get some elected officials that were black, you know.  So what we did was help to elect mostly the white candidates back like in the ’50s leading on up to the early ’60s until we got enough blacks elected, and some whites that would vote for blacks, to get our first elected officials.  Like [Russell] Sugarmon, he got elected back then, [A.W.] Willis [Jr.], Jesse Turner [Sr.], and H.T. Lockard.  Back in the early times there was just a few blacks getting on, but you know up later in the ’70s we started getting more people on the county--.  See the squires, at first it was just three squires, so we had--.  Lockard served as a squire.  Jesse Turner served as a squire.  Then in the later years on up in the ’70s it got to be the county commission where they would have more people on there.  So then, it got to the point where we would have at least five or six [black] people on the county commission and city council.  Half of the city council is black now.  We have a black mayor, [black] city and county mayor.  


But see, until these later years up in the ’80s and ’90s you didn’t have all of that.  You know back then there just wasn’t nothing opened up to us.  We had to fight for everything we got.  That’s why it was people going to jail.  Maxine and Vasco [Smith] stayed in jail more than anybody. [Laughter]  It was just hard back in the early ’60s and stuff like that, ’50s, like about ’54 on up until I guess about ’64.  You know it was just harder then.  But by the time it got up in the ’60s we were getting black elected officials, or blacks had influence, and some whites that would help people.  Because I started working for the sheriff’s department in 1962 under Hinds, and then after that we got other sheriffs and I worked under them, like Bill Morris.  I worked under Bill Morris.


EG: Oh, yeah.  He’s someone else who I talked to.


JP: Oh, you did?


EG: Yeah. [Laughter]


JP: Well I worked very good with him, as a school crossing guard.


EG: And he told me that he was elected with black support.


JP: That’s right.


EG: What did you--?


JP: Hinds was too.


EG: M.A. Hinds?


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Okay, sure, sure.  So were you doing voter registration work through the NAACP before Maxine Smith came and started--?


JP: I started out with trying to get voter registration with Lockard.


EG: Okay.


JP: Uh huh, and on through with Maxine.


EG: Okay, sure, sure.


JP: So, but it was just different getting people to register to vote then than it is now, see, because people know that their vote counts now so I would say seventy percent of the people in Memphis are registered to vote now where back then it was a small amount.


EG: Yeah.  How did you--back then when you first began voter registration in the ’50s and early ’60s-- get people to register to vote?  What were your strategies?


JP: Well see, we just like--.  We were so organized by ward and precincts.  We would have like street captains and you could always get a street captain to say, “Let’s work this area.  You work a street; I’ll work a street,” and like that, and that’s how we really built up voter registration back then.  We had good street captains.  The younger people would not work as hard as the people did that’s in their seventies and eighty years old now.  You know, like I’m seventy-seven but back then all those people, you know, that’s older [now], they worked real hard to accomplish their goal because they was tired of getting on the back of the bus.  They was tired of going to the back door.  They were tired of--.  You know you go downtown and buy clothes and you couldn’t even try them on.  They didn’t have any blacks working in the stores and stuff like that, like cashiers or salesmen or something like that.  There were just very few people working in those capacities then.  See now if you’re educated and know what to do or know how to use a computer you can get a job anywhere you want.  All you got to do now is be qualified.  But it took a lot of blood, sweat, and going to jail for that.  Because even at Memphis State--my daughter went to Memphis State and they went to jail from Memphis State because the teachers out there wasn’t teaching them like they were teaching the other children when they integrated the school.


EG: When did she go to Memphis State?  When was this?


JP: I had two go to Memphis State.  One probably went to--.  One went to Memphis State in about--.  She graduated in 1964, so that’s my oldest daughter.  She went to Memphis State.  My next daughter she probably went there about five years later and they still hadn’t fully integrated then, because they went to jail.


EG: Why did they--?  Were they protesting or--?


JP: Yeah, they were protesting and they went in the dean’s office and they just loaded up a city bus and carried all the black students on downtown to jail.


EG: Were they sitting in the dean’s office?


JP: They were sitting in, picketing, and stuff like that, right out at Memphis State and they went to jail.  Some people couldn’t even get a job after that because see if you had a record of going to jail, regardless of what it was, you were black and you couldn’t get no job.  So if you didn’t get your child’s records cleared up before he graduated from college and get a job he couldn’t work for the government because they wouldn’t give you a job.  But yet they weren’t doing any crimes.  We were saying--.  We were just picketing for our rights, trying to achieve the things that everybody else had that we wanted and felt that we had a right to, to be able to go in the front door or go to a bathroom and not have to go to a segregated bathroom and ride in the back of the bus.  You know you could be sitting in a seat halfway in the bus and a person could come ask you to get up.  Even the bus driver would stop the bus and say, “Move farther to the back.”  So that means you had to stand up, and you could have just got off of work and be tired.  You could go in Levy’s, or another store downtown, where they had hats and stuff and they wouldn’t let you try them on, back in the ’50s and ’60s, because of the fact they just didn’t want you to try on their goods because they felt that you wasn’t a full class citizen so you didn’t have a right to try on--.  You could buy it but then you couldn’t try it on.  Now how you see yourself buying a pair of shoes and you couldn’t try then on?


EG: It’s so bizarre.


JP: But those things happened, you know.  People were beat, killed, sent to jail and everything, just to have rights.  Younger people now, that’s under thirty, they just don’t believe this.  “What’s wrong with y’all?  Y’all was just scared pups,” but see, they didn’t live in that day when if you did something they’d sic the dogs on you or the police would come and take you to jail and beat you half to death.  You see what I’m saying?  So then they--.  Some children still can’t understand.  Like, if I told my granddaughter that’s fifteen years old stuff that happened, it just don’t sound real to her.  It sounds like, “What’s wrong with y’all?  Why y’all didn’t step up and do this and do that?”  Well what was you going to do?  Because the police going to come and carry you to jail.  If you had no money, how you going to get out?


EG: I understand too that you had an eighteen-month boycott of Main Street.  Were you involved with that, and--?


JP: Yeah, they had Black Mondays at schools and everything else.


EG: Yeah.  What was Main Street like?  Why was that chosen as a target for the boycott?


JP: Because that’s where most people spent their money, downtown.  There was a big downtown.  Downtown now don’t mean the same thing as it did then because like all the stores were downtown.  All the stores you see in the malls, they were all on Main Street back then.  It was just stores all up and down there: Lowenstein’s, Goldsmith, Levy’s.  All the big-name stores were on Main Street so that’s where people spent their money, but you didn’t have the right to try the clothes on or look at them too much.  You know like you’d pick up stuff and hold it up and look at it; they didn’t want you to do that.  If you wanted something you had to know what you wanted and buy it, and that’s the way it was.  So a lot of people just stayed in jail so much, like Vasco and Maxine, they stayed in jail more than anybody, because there was always something going on.  And like marches and stuff like that, the people that just wasn’t afraid to get out.  You’re going to get something done to you anyway so why not go to jail for something worthwhile?


EG: Did you go to jail at all?


JP: No, I never did go.  My children went in the later years but I never went because of the fact you had to have somebody to man the offices, man the telephones, have some food ready for the picketers when they come in, so me and Ms. [Laurie] Sugarmon, Russell Sugarmon’s wife, stayed back behind a lot and fixed the food.


EG: You fixed the food for the, for who?


JP: The picketers, you know.


EG: Oh, okay.


JP: So she and I would--.  If you read in that book you will see she and I worked together doing a lot of that stuff.


EG: So you were, during this time, a volunteer at the NAACP?


JP: Uh huh.  I was a volunteer for just about anything you need.


EG: Wow.  So you were doing that right from with Lockard in ’54 onward.


JP: Uh huh, just on and on and on and on, because see like when Lockard was assistant to Governor Buford Ellington they had to integrate, you know, like the black children got in trouble they went to Pikeville.  The white boys went to another institution.  So when they had to integrate that institution about in ’65, in about 1965, H.T. was assistant to Buford Ellington, the governor [Lockard actually served as the governor’s assistant from 1967 to 1971].  Well then my son was used as one of the blacks to help integrate the white facility where they sent the white boys.  What they needed--.  The white boys had been working there all the time but they didn’t have any blacks because there wasn’t any black children over there.  But see, back when Buford Ellington was governor that’s when they integrated the institutions, and then my son was one of the first blacks who worked over there with the other college students.


EG: Yeah.  What institution was this?


JP: I don’t know exactly which one in town but this was in Nashville where he was going to school.  He was going to Tennessee State.


EG: Tennessee State.


JP: Uh huh, and Lockard was in Nashville because he was assistant to the governor, because he had helped Buford Ellington get elected. 


EG: What type of institution was it?


JP: It’s just like Pikeville.  That’s where they sent black children.  You know like you’re going to juvenile court?


EG: Oh.


JP: It was the system--.


EG: Oh, it was the juvenile court system and before it was white and black and your son was the first to integrate.


JP: But he was the--.  You know like white boys had been working there all the time.  They didn’t have any blacks over there.  So then--.


EG: So he worked in the juvenile court--.


JP: So he worked in the juvenile system.


EG: Oh, I see.


JP: They did like watch over the boys, go look at them and see if they’re doing everything right, and you had somebody you had to call, like a guard or something.  You had to report it.  If you didn’t report it then the guards would come over there to see what was wrong.


EG: Okay, sure.


JP: So they worked like at night and they went to college in the daytime.  And they were paid to do that and that helped them through college.


EG: Yeah, wow.  I want to steer this back a little more toward the politic- [00:16:34] voter registration for now.  When you did voter registration in the late ’50s, or mid-’50s, early ’60s, did you face any resistance in terms of getting blacks registered to vote?


JP: I didn’t have any problem because I lived in this community and this is where I did most of my voter registration, in the community, because we would go knocking on doors and worked on the street.  And you could get other people to work the street.  We were doing it through the civic club, [Shelby County] Democrat Club, and like that.


EG: Sure.


JP: Uh huh.


EG: What were civic clubs like back in the ’50s?


JP: Well see like we had the Walker Holmes Civic Club that we still have now.  And you know people back then, you’d have a whole room of folks when you went to a meeting because see you--.  We were in the county and we were fighting to get into the city.  We had the elementary school when we moved here in ’54, but see we wanted a high school.  So then by ’57 we got a high school, but we had to go to the county school board and get the superintendent, and the school board members took longer to build our high school than they had promised us when we moved down here.  So it was like everything you got you had to put up some energy for it, so at that time everybody went to civic clubs meetings and Democrat [Club] meetings because there was things they needed in the community and that was the only way you could get them, to get people elected who would be sensitive to your needs.


EG: Okay.


JP: So then with a lot of black registered voters--.  When you belonged to the Democrat Club, see they had like--.  Willis, Sugarmon and all them could tell you, “We can deliver you so many votes,” because they were organized.  That’s how come it worked so well because of the fact all of us was working under an umbrella, you know with the Democrat Club, and all of us was working under an umbrella with the civic clubs.  So then all these different leaders working together, that could make you get just about anything you wanted because they were all working together, until in the later years, like up in the ’70s, when different people decided they want to be the leader.  You know, people decide, “I want to be a leader,” so they started moving out of their communities, and that’s what made you have different groups working in different areas.


EG: And also the NAACP, I understand--


JP: Yeah, the NAACP--.  


EG: --were all Memphis--.


JP: See, everybody was working on one thing to achieve a certain goal.  You know we have the NAACP meeting every fourth Sunday.  You have a Democrat [Club] meeting on a certain time, you know.   You have your civic club meeting, like our civic club meeting was last night.  Every fourth Monday is the Walker Holmes Civic Club meeting.  Other areas might meet on a different day, but they would have a council of civic clubs where all the civic club presidents would go to a meeting once a month, so that’s what made you be like under an umbrella because you were working with groups.  People don’t work as well now as they did then.  You know like you got PTOs and PTAs and like that, but see at one time we just had all PTAs, Parent Teacher Association, you know everybody working together.  And when you would go to a meeting where the civic clubs meet, or the city council meet, everybody would be meeting at that particular group.  And just like now you got all kind of organizations having voter registrations, but back then it all came from the civic clubs or the Democrat Club.  You see what I’m saying?


EG: Okay.  And also under the NAACP registration.  Those were the three main organizations here, yeah.


JP: Uh huh.  See like I’m on the board for the NAACP.  Then we have a political action committee that meets, just like we had this forum on Sunday for all candidates to come and say what they had to say, but we don’t endorse candidates.  But we do have a forum every election to make sure people get an opportunity to talk to the candidates and find out what they are going to do.


EG: Were you doing that in the ’50 and ’60s as well, having candidate forums at the NAACP?


JP: Yeah, you had them but you have them broader now than you did then.


EG: You mean more candidates come now than did back then?


JP: Uh huh.


EG: But back then it seemed like the main vehicle for political action was the Shelby County Democratic Club, and then you had a lot--.  I know that your club would endorse candidates.  Can you talk about how that worked?


JP: See different groups would endorse different candidates, and especially if you knew a candidate that was going to help the black community in any way, then blacks supported the white candidates.  And that meant that if you supported the white candidates you could always ask them to give people a job.  You see what I’m saying?  Even if it wasn’t the job you wanted.  Like Bill Morris, he was going to have so many policemen.  You see what I’m saying?


EG: Yeah, yeah.


JP: Okay, Hinds, he was going to hire so many, and it’s always some black person who worked in politics could get people jobs, whoever had the power to hire them.


EG: Right, right.


JP: So that’s the way that went.


EG: Yeah.  You’ve touched on this already but what were your short-term and long-term goals of political action?  What were you hoping to achieve?


JP: Political action with the NAACP is to educate the voter so that he will know how to select candidates.  You don’t tell him who to vote for but you, you know, the information is out there for you to know enough about the candidate to know if you want to support the candidate.  We don’t tell people who to vote for but it’s like educating people.  We make sure you get registered first, then once you get registered we try to educate you on how to deal with evaluating candidates.  You know, you have history, you have background, and you’ll know what state legislators, you know, they have grades, you have a grading system in the NAACP political action where you grade a candidate how he has voted on issues.


EG: On different civil rights and other issues, yeah.


JP: Uh huh, on whatever issues they get grades like.  So when they hand out a report card on how candidates voted then you make your own decision whether this candidate did anything or voted on any issues that would help you in any way.  So that’s what we do with political action is really like registering the person, educating the person, letting the person know how to go about evaluating the candidates.  That’s what political action is all about is making sure that you understand.  And we make sure that people have a way to the polls on Election Day.  All the people that we register to vote, they keep records on them where they can call them and let them know it’s an election; go vote.  It’s an election; go vote.


EG: Oh, okay.  Is that what you were doing also in the ’50s and ’60s?  


JP: Well back in the ’50s and ’60s they would give each person who was a member so many names out of your precinct and ask you to be responsible for calling all these members that’s in your precinct.


EG: This was with the Democratic Club?


JP: The Democratic Club and the civic club, just about everybody.  And see when we started getting our own state legislators, like our state legislators give us a list of most of the elected, I mean the registered voters in their precincts because they want you to call them and make sure those people get out and go vote.


EG: Right, right.


JP: So they go to the election commission and get a list of all the registered voters.


EG: And this was being done in the ’50s or in the ’60s through the Shelby County Democratic Club?


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Yeah.  What do you remember about the ’59 election when Sugarmon ran for public works commissioner?  Were you involved with that?


JP: Oh, yes, we was right there to help him in any way we could and beg the people to go vote.  That’s your biggest problem back in that time, in the early time, was to make sure you went to the polls and voted, because sometimes people get the idea, “Well, my vote ain’t going to count anyway.”  You know, “They didn’t do this.”  You know when it came time for Bush’s election they claimed folks still cheating.  You know what I’m saying? 


EG: So how were you able--?  I noticed in the ’59 election it did end up being the largest turnout ever of black and white Memphians.  How were you able to overcome this apathy that you faced or other challenges to get people out to the polls?


JP: Well it’s just like right now.  People are concerned about the war that we’re in right now.  Some people feel we shouldn’t have ever went to Iraq.  Now some feel that since we are there we got to stay there.  So people evaluate the candidates like that.  When election time comes they’re going to go to the polls based on what they feel Bush has accomplished or what he has done, or can somebody else do better.  That’s really how you get folk out to vote.  If they decide they want to get rid of Bush everybody going to vote.  If they decide they don’t care, it ain’t going to make no difference, then they won’t go vote.


EG: So your way of getting them out was you tied it to the issues and said, “If you go out and vote you’re doing something good for the black community,” those sorts of persuasions, getting them to look at the issues?


JP: See, if you’re satisfied and feel like whoever the president is that he’s doing a good job, then you’re going to go vote for him, because I tell people if you stay at home and don’t go vote for nobody because you ain’t even--.  Say for instance if you don’t like Kerry.  If you don’t like Kerry and you stay at home you’re voting Bush whether you pull the lever or not.  I tell people--.  I try to get them to understand that if you don’t like Kerry you are voting for Bush if you stay at home.  You’ve got to go to the polls and decide which is the lesser evil, whichever one will do a better job, so you go to the polls and vote, because if you don’t vote you’re still voting for Bush.  Because if Kerry don’t get the vote, how can he win?  One vote could count.


EG: Right, so you used that same--?


JP: So that’s the way you do it now.  You’re either going to vote for Bush or you’re going to vote for Kerry.  You don’t have a choice.  You’re not never going to find a candidate that’s going to meet all your specifications, that’s going to do what you want [them] to do.  So you’ve got to decide what’s best for everybody.  So that’s how you vote.  You don’t cast your vote because of what you like, that you’ve just got to like this person and like all of his ways, because nobody’s going to satisfy you that way.  You have to decide: What’s best for all the people?  Is Bush best for them, or is Kerry a better person to replace him until you can find something better?  That’s how you have to think about politics.


EG: And that’s how you were thinking about it back in the ’50s and ’60s?


JP: That’s how we think about every election.  Even when you didn’t have a black running, if it was a white, you evaluate the best white candidate.  You were going to have people over here that you believed in, like Sugarmon, Willis, H.T. Lockard.  You had trust in those men.  You see what I’m saying?


EG: Yeah, yeah.


JP: You went along with whatever decision they made that we ought to back.  You know you have a meeting and they would present these candidates to you and they would recommend to you out of whoever was running which was the best person that we ought to support.  And if we want to elect this person and we want to get things from him, all of us got to stick together.  Votes is what candidates count.  They don’t count all this talk.  They want to see the votes.  They know whether they got more black votes that got them in, or whether the white got them in, because without that black vote that other man might have won.  You see what I’m saying?  


EG: Yeah, yeah.


JP: So that’s what elected officials count, is how you vote, what precinct you’re voting out of.  They know precincts that vote real good.  They know 75-1, the precinct I live in, is a good voting precinct.  So then they’re going to put emphasis on this precinct because they know they can get the majority of the votes out of these seventy-five.  See [there’s] about twelve 75 precincts, so it might--.  75-1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 all the way up to 75.  [She’s referring to how she and other black Memphians call the various precincts.  She calls hers 75-1, others are referred to as 75-2, 75-3, and so on; just the numbers are used, she and others do not say “dash.”  They refer to the ward (75 in this instance) and then the precinct number.]  So they know that those are good voting precincts so they’re going to put more time, more money, in that area to make sure they get the votes out of them because those people believe in going to vote.  They might have a precinct over in another area that don’t vote as well, so they do some things in that area, but they’re going to put their time in the area they know where the folks are going to go vote, and where the leadership is.  They know they can depend on certain leaders to help them deliver the vote.  That happened in the ’50s and ’60s and it’s happening still now.  It’s just that now people are more educated on voting so they kind of know what they want to do themselves more than they did back then.


EG: Right, right.  So you were involved--?  Were you at the board meetings of the Shelby County Democratic Club when candidates would come and you could hear and you would decide who to endorse?


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Okay.  What did you typically ask candidates?


JP: Well, if you had been looking at the TV this week you would have heard me ask a candidate who is running against Rita Clark [sp?].  He said that he was going to--.  First he asked the question, “Anybody want to pay taxes?”  I was the only person to put up my hand that I didn’t mind paying taxes.  So then when it was time for questions and answers I told him, I said, “I’m the person who said I didn’t mind paying taxes, because if you are going to be able to give back all these taxes and lower the evaluation on homes,”--because that’s what makes you pay more taxes, the value on your house.  If your house is valued--.  Like I tell him, I paid seven thousand three hundred dollars for this house but now it’s valued at forty-seven thousand.  So then I pay taxes according to the forty-seven thousand so I want to know how you’re going to reduce that.  Okay, then his answer was that Rita Clark has so many appointed employees.  He was going to get rid of half of them.  So I said, “Well if you’re going to get rid of half of those appointed employees, who’s going to go and evaluate the value on the house?  Are you going?”  Because if you don’t have those people, somebody got to go unless you’re going to do it on computer, and you wouldn’t know the house next door to me is falling down, so that would cut down on the value of my house.  Because if you’re looking at the computer you’re looking at my house and you’re going by I got two full baths, or you evaluate my house higher than you do the house next door, because--.  That’s the particular situation.  


So when you have candidates where you can talk to them, you evaluate them according to all the things that they tell you they’re going to do.  Because I told him he didn’t set the tax rate so he couldn’t control that.  That’s when he said he was going to get rid of like half the appointed officials, and you save so much because some of them make sixty thousand, seventy thousand, ninety thousand, and all of this, so if he cut off half of them he could turn this money back into the tax code.  That’s the way he wanted to say it that he was going to do it.  But see I don’t believe everything he tell me.  That’s why I asked him personally.  


So, it’s just like any candidates who come and tell you, you want to know what they’re going to do different from the people you got now.  They’re running as a state legislator and they’re going to tell you that they’re going to get a tax pass where people who live in other cities--.  Like if you live in Arkansas but you come here to work every day you’re going to pay a payroll tax.  He can’t pass nary a law, not now, because it takes a certain amount of people to pass a law, and if all the state legislators who get elected in Memphis, they can’t go to Nashville and pass a law by themselves.  They got to have some other elected officials from the small towns, like Nashville, Murfreesboro, they got to get somebody to vote with them.  You can’t pass no law by yourself.  So it ain’t no use to telling me all this you’re going to do, because some of this stuff the state legislature that’s already there would have passed a payroll tax if they could have got all the folks in East Tennessee to vote with them.  You know, because we got twenty elected officials going to Nashville.  They can’t pass a law.  They got to have some real good friends, who I’ll vote for what you want in your town and you vote along with me for what I want for Shelby County.  That’s how you can get some laws passed, by having some friends that will vote, whether they like your bill or not.  But they know that’s going to affect them so they ain’t going for that payroll tax.  So then how are you going to go up there and do more than the others done?  They been trying to pass the bill since they been there.  It didn’t work.  


So that’s how you question candidates about all the things they tell you that they are going to do that you know they can’t deliver.  See, you can recommend a law.  You can put your name on a law all you want, but if you can’t get enough votes to pass it, it can’t pass.  Same way on city council, county commission, and all of that, you got to have enough votes to pass a law.  But it’s easier in the local government because you might not have but thirteen people to deal with, or nine people to deal with, so then you might can encourage them to come over on your side and vote with you.


EG: Yeah, yeah.  How did you keep politicians accountable who you endorsed and helped get elected back in the ’50s and ’60s?


JP: Well I’ll tell you, Vasco Smith.  Vasco Smith was a county commissioner.  When he was a county commissioner each county commissioner had three jobs.  Vasco would always give me all three of his jobs and that would mean I could get three children a job to work during the summer.  Same way with city council; city councilmen might have ten jobs.  If you know I can help you get elected you’re going to give me some applications so some of the children in this neighborhood can get a job because you want their parents to go and vote for you and campaign for other people to vote for you.  So if you want--.  Just like now, I wanted these streets out here blacktopped because they haven’t been blacktopped in forty years.  I got on the city council that we need this area blacktopped.  We haven’t had it blacktopped in forty years, and you’ve blacktopped all over there, and all down there, and all over yonder, but you’re passing us up.  We want some of this money spent in our neighborhood.  So that’s how it go.  


EG: I think it’s--.  I talked to--.  Well just reading about the Shelby County Club and how powerful it was back then and so forth, what do you think made it so powerful?


JP: What made the Shelby County Democrat [Club] powerful back in the ’50s and ’60s, it was because you was under an umbrella of leaders, and people believed in these leaders and they voted the way these leaders would say.  Because they would have all the candidates to come and talk to you then they would pick out the candidates they felt that was going to do the best job and help the black community.  So then what they did was recommended these people, like for governor or whatever they needed, the county commissioners, city council, and all that stuff.  They recommended who the best people was for sheriff and stuff like that.  And that sheriff would answer to these leaders because they know they control the black vote. 


EG: And you wrote down some of the leaders’ [names.]  [From a notepad promoting Roscoe Dixon for city clerk in the upcoming city election, she generously wrote down for me (unsolicited) the names:  Russell Sugarmon, A. W. Willis, Jesse H. Turner, Sr., H. T. Lockard, Dr. Vasco Smith, Benjamin Hooks, A. Maceo Walker, Frank Kilpatrick, Melvin Robertson, Katie Sexton, and Rev. Alexander Gladney.]  If you could talk about some of them and how they were viewed and what was important about them.


JP: See, like Russell Sugarmon, he was a person that you could talk to, a person that you could ask for help, any help you needed, if somebody was sick on your street, somebody can’t pay their rent, they would help you back then.  Willis would do the same thing, and H.T. Lockard.  He was an attorney so if you needed to get small things done that you needed an attorney for, I could always say, “Go see H.T. Lockard.  Tell him I sent you.”  You see what I’m saying?


EG: Yeah.


JP:  I could always say, “Go talk to Jesse Turner.  Tell him Ms. Peters sent you,” because see I was the person in the neighborhood who was getting all these folks registered and getting them to vote a certain way along with those leaders.  So then whatever kind of help a person--like the NAACP.  If you had a problem and you felt you was discriminated against, all you had to do was go and tell Ms. Maxine Smith, “Ms. Peters sent me up here,” and tell them what your problem is.  So you would get help.  Same way with Vasco, Dr. Kirk, and all those leaders; they assisted to our needs because they remember when anything that they wanted done the--.  See we considered them as our leaders.  Since they were our leaders and we were going to back them in any way.  So you couldn’t come pick us off one at a time.  You would have to go through the leadership, because they know you respected them and we depended on them, so then when we asked for something that we needed then they would deliver because of the fact they knew who to call on when it was time for election time and they needed to get the black vote out.


EG: The grassroots workers, people like you, doing the administrative functions and so forth.  How many women were involved back then?


JP: Oh, we always had more women than we ever had men, going to church and everything else, it’s always women.  And like everybody belonged to church, your minister would cooperate with you, and everything.  See like every election I used to have a big party in my backyard and the local churches would support it, and we had some of the biggest parties right in my backyard and have all the politicians over.


EG: In the ’50s and ’60s did you throw lawn or Coke [Coca-Cola] parties?


JP: Oh, we had all kind of little tea parties.  If you put all the people you could put in the living room, and we might then have five or six houses, one Coke party on each street.


EG: Wow.  So the Coke parties, they were fairly--.  Like how many people typically would come to a Coke party?


JP: See, like if I have a party in my house I’d have two hundred people in my backyard, because the church would bring the speakers, the chairs, helped furnish the hotdogs.  You don’t ask the politicians for nothing.  We furnish all our own stuff.  And like back in the ’50s and ‘60s we might have living room Coke parties, you know, we have one at your house, I have one in my house, just in the living room, and you have about twenty people or something like that.


EG: Did these also serve as fundraisers?


JP: No, we were never trying to raise funds.  Most of the politicians had their own fundraisers they would invite us to.


EG: Oh, okay.  So these were about voter information--.


JP: These were just parties to get the--.


EG: Get the vote out.


JP --the officials out and get the people together so the people who were running could come talk to you.  We served little hors d’oeuvres and stuff like that.


EG: Were these parties pretty much run by women?


JP: Well you always had some men back then.  You had more men back in the earlier times that would work with the ladies because their husbands worked with them, their neighbors and all got together and would help sponsor a Coke party, or a barbecue, or anything.


EG: Sure, sure.  In terms of the Shelby County Democratic Club in the ’60s and when it first started, how many precinct clubs do you estimate that there were, and how many members?


JP: I believe just about every ward and precinct that was in the black community was represented back in them days, because it was a thing where everybody had to work together to achieve anything.


EG: Yeah, yeah, wow.



JP: You had better working relationships with ward and precincts back then than you do now, because every ward and precinct seemed to have been organized back in those days.  


EG: Now you said with the board meetings it was the leaders who gave recommendations of who to endorse but also it was up to the board to vote on these nominations?


JP: Everybody who came to the meeting would vote.


EG: Yeah.


JP: You know, the board would meet, just like Sugarmon, Willis, Walker, Lockard, Vasco, Benjamin Hooks, all those people would meet first and come up with a recommendation.  Then when we had a regular Democrat [Club] meeting they would present this to us and then we would vote it up or down.  Ninety percent of the time if they had a slate of officers you accepted them.



EG: Oh, sure.  Did you also have the opportunity at these meetings to raise any issues that were concerns of you?


JP: We always did have some input.  They didn’t just--.  They knew how to present stuff to you.  They knew how to let you take a part.  They might even call you up at home because you were a leader in your community.  You might not have been in the executive board group but there were always leaders in the community.  You see what I’m saying?


EG: They would call you and get you--.


JP: They would call you up and tell you what idea they had, so you could think about it and you could talk to your group about it before you even went to the meeting, so you would kind of be together.  See like the group in Walker Holmes, we would kind of be together before we went to the meeting.  You see what I’m saying? [Break in recording] 


--75-3 had, 75-4, you know they went all together as one big group, but in the community you had to be organized on the street level, the ward and precinct level, so that you could make sure you communicated to the people in your area.  See most folks be piled up at the polls now on Election Day.  Every candidate will have some of their folk working for them, and I tell them all the time, we used to be knocking on doors on Election Day to get the folk out.  Sometimes we had a car out there and if you need a ride we’ll take you.  I used to have a babysitting system at my house, because there was like 75-1 over here, 75-7 right there, 75-2 over there, 75-4--.  Well see if you needed a babysitter we’d have some young ladies here, teenagers, that would keep the children while you go vote or whatever you wanted to do.  So see now they don’t even have a babysitting system like we did back in the ’50s, ’60s, and ’70s.


EG: One of my questions was how you were able to do all this political and civil rights work in addition to being a mother.  How did you find the time to do all that?


JP: Well see by the time it got ’64 I had children seventeen and eighteen years old.


EG: Oh, okay.  So they could serve as babysitters.


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Yeah, sure.


JP: But on Election Day we had those teenagers to be here if you wanted to work at the polls or something and you could leave your children here.  We had a program set up to--.


EG:  You were involved with setting up that program?


JP: Uh huh, and keep your children for you.


EG: Were you involved too with getting the transportation to the polls?


JP: Well on Election Day I ride in my car all day helping folks get to the polls--


EG: Oh, so you served as driver.


JP: --check precincts--.  I really don’t serve as a real driver.  I check precincts, see if the folks are being treated right at the precincts, see if the folks got enough workers, and are there workers working, you know, and stuff like that.  So we’ll go do that then we’ll go back to our polls and work outside the polls.  But we check all the precincts right around here.


EG: Okay, sure.  What did the--?  How did the ’59 election when the black candidates lost, Sugarmon was telling me it had a big impact on the community, and I was wondering how you viewed the impact of that election on the black community?


JP: It was important to who I really wanted to win back in 1959.  If your candidates won you would have worked hard all day.  If they lost you had still worked hard all day trying to get people to vote for a certain candidate.  So, that meant that leading up to the election you would have done a good job getting the people educated to who they were going to vote for before they went to the polls.


EG: Yeah, right.  So there was, obviously, when they lost, disappointment?


JP: Yeah, you’d be disappointed when your candidate lose, but you know you would have worked hard, you would have done all that you could do to get that candidate elected, and then when they evaluate how the people voted you could tell in your particular precinct the folks voted good for the candidate, but then in some other precincts they might didn’t vote as good and that’s why they lost.  


EG: So what would you do with the precincts who didn’t turn out the vote as much as some of the other precincts?  Would they be targeted in a certain way?


JP: Well, what you would do is get the leaders--.  Like 75-2 is on this side of Rochester [sp?].  You would go talk to the leaders in those particular precincts and you would help them as much as you could to get more people registered and do a better job of educating voters on how to vote.


EG: It’s just amazing to me the amount of organization that you had back then.


JP: Well it was because people respected leaders back then.  But all up in the ’70s everybody wanted to be a leader so everybody started getting their own little group in different areas. 


EG: So that’s when the Shelby County Democratic Club broke up or [00:51:41]?


JP: It wasn’t as strong because in the ’70s and ’80s all these different folks that had belonged to the Shelby County Democratic Club had decided to organize the Kennedy Democrat Club, you know, Walker Holmes Democrat Club, North Memphis Democrat Club, you know everybody had these little factions and you had different leaders that was doing it.  


EG: Yeah, that’s something that I’ve noticed looking at different papers at the library.


JP: Some of those people that was your top people that you respected as a leader, they had got elected themselves to something and they just wasn’t doing as much work in the groups as they had done in the early ’50s and ’60s.


EG: Yeah, and they formed their own group.


JP: So some of these other people who were back then, they just formed their other groups, see.  Like Melvin Robertson got his own little group, Frank Kilpatrick had his own little group, Katie Sexton had her own Democrat club, you know.  So different groups start getting organized just for their area so they could say, “Well I own my own governor so I can get what I want from him.”  This one here felt like he had hands on the governor so he could get so much for his area.  


EG: Yeah.  Did this begin in the late ’60s?


JP: I would say it didn’t really get started until the ’70s.


EG: The ’70s?  Okay.  Sugarmon told me that with the assassination of King that put a damper on--.


JP: Uh huh, because people start being their own--.  You know while you was looking up to a leader, everybody decided they could lead who was black: I want to be it.


EG: Yeah.  You mentioned the role of young people serving as babysitters for the campaign, how else did children and youth play a role in political campaigns?



JP: Well see like in this area by me being the PTA president at the high school, and then served as vice president at the school right there on Ford Road, all the teenagers knew me.  They knew what they wanted and they know that if there was anything in my power to get a summer job that I would get them one.  So that’s why I had the connections with them so I could get them to come and serve as babysitters and I didn’t have to pay them nothing.  They would actually come and volunteer their time.  And see then I had teenagers too and college students by that time.  


EG: Right.  Let me see here.  You talked a little already about that you did really anything they needed you to do at the NAACP office.  Can you be more specific about some of the responsibilities that you did, what some of your tasks were there?


JP: Well see like right now, I sponsor a teenager of the year.  They have teenagers of the year and my church sponsors a teenager and I’ve been trying to make my teenager beat twenty-five or thirty more children to be teenager of the year.  You have to raise funds to do that.  You know, you write member--you really don’t raise money.  What you do is write a lot of memberships.  So you always try to get you three or four hundred memberships so that your child can be the winner.


EG: So the people you recruit as members are the people who--?


JP: The people that you know in the community, anybody you know you can write a membership.


EG: Yeah, and then they would vote on the teenager of the year?


JP: Let me see if I’ve got one of these programs here and I can show you--


EG: Okay.


JP: --what I’m talking about.  There might be something on here you want to see, while I go get this other--. [Break in recording]


EG: Old Grove Baptist?


JP: Oak Grove, O-a-k, Oak Grove.


EG: Oak Grove Baptist Church.


JP: That’s my little candidate right there.


EG: Oh, okay, teenager of the year.


JP: No, she wasn’t.  Let me show you her picture.  That’s her right there.


EG: Oh, sure.


JP: That’s the Oak Grove Baptist Church representative.


EG: Okay.


JP: So I help sponsor a teenager of the year every year and I’m responsible for writing the memberships in my church.  


EG: Okay.


JP: And anything that deals with politics, I do that at my church.


EG: Oh.  And were you doing that with your church in the ’50s?


JP: I did all the announcements back then, because I’ve been belonging to my church about fifty years.


EG: You were what?


JP: I’ve been belonging, a member there for fifty years.


EG: Oh, you’ve been a member for fifty years.


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Wow.


JP: So now I’m not the regular announcer anymore.  I just do the politics and the NAACP and any other announcements that need to be made that would, you know, where people can know where to get help and stuff.


EG: Yeah.  So back in the ’50s and ’60s would you just stand up in church and announce that there was an election coming up, or what sort of thing--?


JP: Well that’s what I do now, deal with just the elections and stuff like that, making an announcement.  But back in the ’50s and ’60s I made the regular announcements for about thirty years.


EG: Wow.  Would you say--?  Would you talk about who was endorsed by the Shelby County Democratic Club?  What did you say in the announcements?


JP: Well like right now, anything you want to know about politics I explain it to you.  Our church does not really endorse candidates but I will explain to you.  We have a lady running for judge.  We got somebody running for different offices.  We got so many state legislators running.  We got clerks, so many clerks running.  I try to keep them informed of who’s running and that this election is coming up in August, who’ll be running then, and then I explain to them in November you’ll get a chance to vote for the President.  


EG: Okay, sure.


JP: Uh huh.  So you have to let them know because some people think when they go to the polls the first time they don’t need to go back no more, so you have to let them know what kind of election is going on now, in August, and what’s going to be happening in November.


EG: Okay.  So that was the same sort of announcement you did back then in the ’50s and ’60s?


JP: Uh huh, yeah.


EG: And telling them, “You can talk to me if you have any more questions.”



JP: Uh huh.  And, you know, bring in material that they can pick up.  See, like this is my state legislator, she’s running now, Barbara Cook [sp?].  So then I’d give you a fan, or Roscoe did some stuff, he’s running for clerk, you know.  You would just hand out material so the people know who’s running and what they’re running for, because see like Roscoe is their state senator.  Some folks might want him to stay their state senator.  But then you explain to them that he’s been your senator for so many years and now he’s going to come back into the local community and serve as the clerk, and you tell them why it’s important for them to have a clerk, you know, for him to be a clerk.  They might have an opportunity to get a job, where you might can’t get a job in the clerk’s office now because he has his friends up in there.  


EG: So you would talk about specific candidates and what they would bring by being elected--


JP: Uh huh.


EG: --through the church.


JP: See some folks need to know what the responsibility of city council versus what a county commissioner does, and plus what your state legislator does, what your Congressman do.  See, some people will ask their Congressman to do stuff that the city council ought to be doing.


EG: Right.  So, I’m trying to get a sense of this.  In the ’50s and ’60s and even now, you wouldn’t say, “Vote for this candidate,” but you would talk about certain candidates and what they did and why that would be, kind of like--.


JP: Well the difference in the ’50s and ’60s--.  In the ’50s and ’60s you told these people who you wanted them to vote for.


EG: Oh, okay.


JP: You told them why you wanted them to vote for them, why it was important for you to vote because you don’t have any black candidates in these positions, so you need to try to fill some of these slots with some blacks.  See you don’t have to say that now because you’ve got blacks in nearly every position now.  So back then you didn’t, so you were trying to get some blacks because you felt that blacks could be more sensitive to your needs.  So then, you know, let us take a part in it.


EG: Yeah, yeah, okay.  And the church, so I’ve heard, was the main line of communication--.


JP: See you had more meetings at the church, the ministers cooperated with whatever program was going in, because more people at that time went to church than they do now.  


EG: Yeah.  That and through the precinct clubs.  Were there any other main lines of communication to the voter?  Would you say those were the main two--?


JP: Well I would say you had--.  See you had like the PTA.


EG: Okay.


JP: You had the civic clubs, you had the Democrat Club, and you had your churches and all these different organizations --council, civic club, and all these people--everybody worked together.  That means no matter which one of these you belonged to you cooperated with the other.


EG: Yeah.  So through that interlocking network you were able to get voter registration, education, and get people to hear about Election Day and turn out to the polls.


JP: See I write voter registrations every day.  I keep voter registration and NAACP membership cards in my car at all times.  You’ll always find one on my table, because my children might bring somebody over here that needs to register to vote, so I’ll have one laying there waiting on them.  I have NAACP membership cards to encourage you to become a member of the NAACP.


EG: Sure.  And you’ve been doing this--.


JP: I’ve been doing that for years.


EG: Has that been a common practice since the ’50s,--


JP: Mm hmm.


EG: --doing that sort of stuff?  Wow.


JP: And see then the PTAs were strong.  You had a lot of parents that were coming to PTA meetings because they was concerned about their children’s education.


EG: Yeah, and that was another way that you could educate people about the political process and so forth.  Mr. Sugarmon and Mr. Hooks were telling me that the same ward and precinct clubs that were used for political action were also used to carry out the direct action movement after the sit-ins.


JP: See we really all worked together.


EG: Yeah.  Let’s see.  Do you remember at all the candidacy of Roy Love for the school board in 1955?


JP: I remember when he ran but I don’t think I was supporting him at that time so then I can’t tell you a whole lot about it.


EG: It seemed that--.  Am I correct that the 1959 campaign was the first one where the black community mobilized on a large scale?


JP: Uh huh, and come together.


EG: Yeah, to support these candidates, and out of that was formed the Shelby County Democratic Club [01:03:55] precinct club and so forth.  I understand too that there was a lot of resistance from whites to the candidacy of Sugarmon and that there were even attempts to get the white candidates in that race to suspend their race in an attempt to defeat him.  Do you remember anything about that?


JP: Well all I know I worked real hard and everybody else worked real hard to get him elected, but back then it was hard to get whites to support blacks.  They just hadn’t come to the realization that we had supported them all of our life, then they ought to come in and support us, our candidates.  But a little while later up in the years [blacks] got some of their support.


EG: Yeah.  In the ’59 campaign did you try to get whites to support black candidates?  


JP: Well my job was really trying to get the black folks to go vote, and that was somebody else’s job to try--.  People that was in leadership did more to try and get whites to vote for blacks.


EG: Sure, sure.


JP: I was trying to get the black vote out.


EG: Yeah, yeah.  I saw too in the--.  Well actually I was wondering what did your husband do for a living?


JP: My husband drove a truck and worked for Ronoco Foods.


EG: What foods?


JP: Ronoco.  He never did too much in politics, PTA, none of that stuff.  He just went to work because he worked at night.


EG: Were most of the people--?  Well most black people at the time were working-class people, and I know that Sugarmon and other leaders were middle class.  Did that cause any division at all?


JP: No it didn’t, because back then we were like a family, everybody working together, nobody thinking about--.  Because you needed lawyers then, you didn’t have a lot of black lawyers and stuff, so you needed them.  


EG: Right.  So--.


JP: And they were real friendly, down to earth.  I used to eat as many breakfasts at Sugarmon’s house as I--.  He would even take me to Nashville with him and everything.


EG: Wow.  So people on the grassroots level, they were working-class for the most part.


JP: Mm hmm.


EG: [01:06:29] to see if I can get a sense of that, and mainly women, you were saying before.  Do you remember the--?  In the 1950s was there much protest activity or direct-action activity going on?


JP: Well back then we were so un-integrated until we had to be trying to get to ride at the front of the bus, or get to go in the front door instead of the back door, back at that time.  So you had instance of people trying to get their foot in the door, and trying to get better jobs.


EG: Yeah.  It really seems like the direct action became much more large scale after the sit-ins.  What was the impact of the sit-ins on the black community?


JP: Well see the sit-ins were good because blacks would set it up where you wouldn’t spend your money.  We buy more clothes than anybody, we buy more cars than anybody, and we spend our money.  So when you start picketing a place and don’t spend enough they lose too much money, so that’s why they would come through, because of the fact that you would close them down.


EG: Right, right.  Yeah, that’s what Vasco Smith was telling me, that the sales dropped on Main Street 41 percent and it was when you started hitting them economically that that’s what led to [01:07:57].


JP: See like when they had Black Mondays didn’t nobody go to school.  You can’t have no school, you lose federal money.  


EG: Right.  Yeah, go to the pocketbooks. [Laughter]


JP: That’s the only way you could reach white folks at that time, was financially.


EG: Let’s see here.  What did you think of press coverage of that time?


JP: Well we had the Press-Scimitar and the Commercial Appeal and they printed [the news of] anybody [getting] killed, anybody [getting] shot, but anything good we did they didn’t hardly print it.


EG: What about the Tri-State Defender and the Memphis World?


JP: Well they did good printing all they could print, but they still had to sell some papers to keep going.  So they did real good.


EG: Yeah.  Were you involved with the Nonpartisan Voter Registration Committee at all?


JP: I always did voter registration.


EG: Okay.


JP: Because the NAACP is nonpartisan.  We don’t endorse candidates.


EG: Right.  This Nonpartisan Voter Registration Committee, as I understand it, was an ad hoc committee that was put together during campaigns and consisted of representatives from the NAACP and the Democratic Club and the Republican club.    How influential was the Lincoln League back then?


JP: Well that was by the--out that way. [Telephone rings] I never went to the Lincoln civic club, but that was back there when the people who lived in those areas, like Binghampton and way out--. [Break in recording]


EG: So that was more influential in some of the other neighborhoods, like Binghampton and so forth.


JP: Uh huh.


EG: Do you remember that--?  Well in ’59 too I learned that O.Z. Evers and Eliehue Stanback ran for office, but they weren’t associated with the Volunteer Ticket.



JP: Well see that was when--.  O.Z. Evers got his own group and started out with his group.  All them other different people, at one time all of them belonged to the Democrat Club.  Then they went on out in their own areas and got their own organization together.  It was just like, you got your group, I endorse who I want, and you got your group, I endorse who I want.  O.Z. Evers never, in the late years, cooperated with anybody.  He just had his own little group. 


EG: His own group, [Laughter] okay.


JP: Endorsed his own candidate.


EG: So you see that a little bit in the late ’50s but then--. 


JP: See everybody at one time belonged to the Shelby County Democrat Club.  Then when they start getting them different organizations organized then they went on in their neighborhoods and start getting their own candidates and endorsing them.


EG: Yeah, sure, sure.  Do you think that politics or protest activity, that one had more impact than the other?  You were able to get a lot done through political activity but do you think the protest activity was necessary


JP: Sometimes you had to protest because at one time you didn’t have any black officials that much so you had to deal with protesting to achieve your goal, because everybody that was elected wasn’t going to listen to you, because they didn’t need you.


EG: Right.  So the Black Mondays would be an example--


JP:  Uh huh.

EG:  where protest activity was necessary and [01:11:45].


JP: Busing, and all that and all it took, because we used to get the old books that the white children had wrote in and used, we didn’t get new books, and all that.  That’s what caused the problem with integration and busing [01:11:59] system, to try to get everything equal.  Some folks thought if you sit beside a white child that you was going to learn the same thing that the white children learned, but if you didn’t have good, dedicated white teachers your child wasn’t going to learn no more than he was going to learn in the black school.


EG: Right.  What did you think of Henry Loeb?


JP: Well Henry Loeb was, I guess, good in his time.  He had some black friends that he worked with, but he was not the best thing for black folk.  


EG: Yeah.  Were there other white politicians that you liked?  You mentioned Bill Morris was somebody that you liked.


JP: Well see Bill Morris was a person that you could talk to.  David Hodge [sp?], he was a white man you could talk to.  M.A. Hinds was a white man you could talk to, you know.  He felt people were human at least.  You see what I’m saying?


EG: Yeah.


JP: So any time you found people that would do as much as they could for you it was good.


EG: Yeah, yeah.  As a woman did you feel that--?  I talked to some other women who were active in the Democratic Club and they said they did experience some men who were sexist toward them and that was a problem at times in getting people together.  Did you experience any of that?


JP: No I really didn’t, because I always knew how to keep men--.  My grandmother taught me how to keep men a distance from me.


EG: Oh, okay.


JP: And you talk to them and you let them know what you mean and mean what you say they don’t mess with you.


EG: Ah.  Keep a hard line and [01:13:47].


JP: That’s how that went.


EG: Okay, sure.  You talked too about how--.  I think you mentioned the police were brutal back then.  Can you talk more about how the police were viewed and what the police were like back in the ’50s and ’60s?


JP: Well see I didn’t have any problem with the police.  I taught my children that if a police officer talks to you, you say, “Yes, sir, and no, sir,” you know.  Be polite to them.  Don’t ask them a lot of questions.  Remember their badge numbers, and if they had their name tags on remember their names, and then you come and talk to me about it.  So I always had high respect for police officers and you never have a problem.  If they stop you right now and say you’re speeding, it’s no point you arguing with them about your speeding.  Say, “Sir, what have I done?” and “Yes, sir,” and “No, sir.”  You won’t have nearly as much problems.  Sometimes they’ll let you go.  


EG: So you had strategies, things that you taught, making sure that your children knew how to deal with police officers.  Did you hear of any instances of police brutality?


JP: No, I didn’t, because I always knew how to talk to a police officer because of my grandfather.  My grandfather always [01:15:06] doing something when folks were talking about Boss Crump and stuff.  My uncle was Boss Crump’s janitor in some houses he had in North Memphis.  


EG: Really?


JP: He was the janitor.  My grandfather worked with those white people, hauling up there to vote, and when blacks started getting so they could vote it was like a cooperation.  My grandfather had been a slave so he knew how to deal with white folks, so he didn’t have no problem.


EG: So you have a long history, a family history, of political involvement and engagement and activity.  That’s something too that’s striking about Memphis, is how blacks have historically--.


JP: See a lot of people had a lot to say about, “Mr. Crump don’t allow this; Mr. Crump don’t do this; Mr. Crump do that,” but Mr. Crump paid my uncle a hundred dollars a year for collecting the rent for him, and he had a free house to stay in and everything.  And my granddaddy, when they ran off from Mississippi coming up here, he had fifteen children and every one of them stayed down in [01:16:12] in North Memphis.


EG: Everyone what?


JP: Stayed in North Memphis in [01:16:18], and them houses that they lived in belonged to Mr. Crump.  The rent was seven dollars a month.


EG: So you had a positive, it sounds like, view of Mr. Crump [01:16:35]. 


JP: Well I found out through my grandfather if you say, “Yes, sir,” and “No, sir,” to everybody you won’t have no problem saying, “Yes, sir,” and “No, sir,” to white folk, so it was just a part of me to know how to talk to people.  When you talk to people right they don’t have no reason to start off on you.  You knew how the times the way they is, so it wasn’t no use you getting smart down here and getting yourself in trouble.


EG: Do you think that’s where a lot of problems stem with, with black people who--?


JP: Back in that time when you had some that wasn’t going to take the stuff, and thought they didn’t have to take the stuff, and you know just say anything.  You know the white folk wasn’t going to take it from you, so you just say, “Yes, sir,” and, “No, sir,” that’s what my grandfather taught me, you wouldn’t have no problem.  So I taught my children the same thing.


EG: Sure.  Let’s see what other questions I have here.  Do you think that blacks being in public office has been positive for race relations?


JP: I think it’s fair and I think they have done just as good a job as anybody else could have done.  When we got the opportunity we were as effective as everybody else.


EG: Right.  Were you aware--?  I’m wondering how much the events that were going on in other places, like Montgomery and Birmingham and like [01:18:35] Martin Luther King, Jr., how much--?


JP: I was in Montgomery, Alabama when they had--.  You couldn’t ride the bus.


EG: Were you?


JP: We walked everywhere.  We went to a PTA convention and everybody--cabs, the people who drove their car would let you ride.  That’s when they was trying to get the buses integrated.


EG: Wow. So you were part of that boycott.


JP: I was there at the time.


EG: Yeah.  How long were you there?


JP: Oh, we was just there for a convention.


EG: Oh, okay, sure.  How connected were you in Memphis, with the civil rights movement here, with the other protest movements that were going on in other places in the South?


JP: Well I just really dealt with the local government here in Memphis.


EG: Yeah.  So it seems to me that the movement in Memphis was really locally driven.  It wasn’t so much like you looked to other cities as to what you should be doing.  It was decided here.


JP: The leadership that you had got the information from the other cities and presented to you in meetings what we ought to be about doing this week, or what we ought to be doing this month.  We had leadership.


EG: Okay.  Can you give me an example of some time when they talked about something national, about how that should affect how the movement was done here?


JP: Well like Russell Sugarmon, A.W. Willis, Jesse Turner, Lockard, all those men were aware of what went on in other cities, and that’s how we got our information was through them.  


EG: Okay, sure.


JP: There was other leaders but they were the top ones.  


EG: Right, right, they were the top leaders.  What do you see as the differences and similarities between Memphis politics now and Memphis politics back in the ’50s and ’60s?


JP: Back in the ’50s and ’60s you followed leadership.  Now in this day and time everybody’s a leader.  Everybody thinks they know something so they work in different little groups now.  That’s the difference.


EG: Yeah, that’s something that’s really striking, about how much of a community--.


JP: See, I make up my mind whether I want to vote for Kerry or not.  I don’t need nobody to tell me we’re going to back Kerry.  I know whether I want to back Kerry or not.  Because I read up on what Kerry does, what’s in the paper, and what they’re doing in Massachusetts and stuff that folks try to blame him for now.


EG: So people do a better job of educating themselves instead of relying on leadership.  What were some of the major challenges that you faced back then?  You mentioned one was some people were apathetic.  What were some of the other challenges you faced [in] engaging in political activity--?


JP: Well I was so active in political activity so I never had a problem because I stayed involved.  I didn’t miss no meetings hardly, like I don’t miss no meetings hardly now.  And I’m always involved with candidates.


EG: Yeah, sure.  Is there anything else that we haven’t talked about, something major, that you think I should know about--I mean I’m sure there’s a lot more--or anything else that you want to add at all?


JP: Well the only thing I could tell you that’s different now than it was then, back then in the ’50s and ’60s we followed leadership.  We looked up to leadership.  We expected the leaders to bring us the best candidates and tell us all about them and expected them if we needed something from the candidates that they would get it.  But now in this day and time I talk to the candidates myself.  I know exactly what each one of them going to do, especially my city councilman, my county commissioner, the judges in this city.  I know approximately what each one of them is going to do because I’m always--.  I don’t miss a meeting or going to something--.  Like the judge, she’s having a campaign fundraiser this evening over to the union hall, so after while, as soon as you leave, I’ll be going over there.


EG: Oh, sure.


JP: [01:23:04] union.


EG: So it sounds like you experienced a personal change.


JP: So then I deal with the candidates on an individual basis more now than I did back then.


EG: Yeah, sure.  Is there anything else at all?


JP: So like Saturday, we’re having this Democrat party opening.  The chairman of the Democrat party has already called and asked me to be at a meeting at 6:00, and the regular meeting starts at 7:00.  So whatever plans they have that they want us special to do Saturday, they’ll be telling us Thursday night at 6:00, when they want us to be there, and they’ll have the regular meeting at 7:00 where all the members take a part.


EG: Yeah, sure.  So yeah, because I’ve observed with other people who I’ve talked to who were active in the ’50s and ’60s their political and civil rights work is ongoing and you--.


JP: Well see, I still go.


EG: Yeah.
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